FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
10/21/2022 4:40 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/24/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>1013</u>96-5 (COA No. 55329-5-II)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

RANDY SMITH, Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

KATE R. HUBER Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, WA 98101
(206) 587-2711
katehuber@washapp.org
waapofficemail@washapp.org

A. INTRODUCTION

Motivated by its desire to eliminate racial disparity in sentencing and to redress the entrenched discrimination of imposing harsher sentences on people of color, the legislature mandated resentencing for any case where a court relied on second-degree robbery to impose a sentence requiring a person to die in prison. Randy Smith received such a sentence. However, the Court of Appeals denied him the relief the statute demands.

The trial court sentenced Mr. Smith, a Black man, to die in prison based on his prior conviction for second-degree robbery. The Court of Appeals ignored the plain language of the statutes and disregarded the legislature's intent to eradicate racial disparity in sentencing. Instead, it denied Mr. Smith resentencing by creating an exception not contained in the statute. This Court should accept review.

B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Mr. Smith petitions for review of the Court of Appeals' opinion. RAP 13.4. The August 23, 2022, opinion, and September 23, 2022, order denying reconsideration, are attached.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. RCW 9.94A.647 mandates that a court "must have a resentencing hearing" where it relied on a second-degree robbery conviction to sentence someone as a persistent offender. Here, the trial court relied on Mr. Smith's prior conviction for second-degree robbery to find him a persistent offender and impose sentences of life without the possibility of parole (LWOP). The Court of Appeals nevertheless denied Mr. Smith resentencing because it decided the trial court could have relied on the conviction's deadly weapon enhancement to impose LWOP sentences. The Court of Appeals' creation of an exception to the resentencing mandate not contained in the statute contradicts the plain language of the statute and defies

the legislature's intent to eliminate reliance on second-degree robbery convictions as a means to address racial disproportionality in sentencing.

2. This Court held in *Jackson*¹ that unjustified shackling is presumptively prejudicial unless the government demonstrates the absence of harm, even when the unlawful restraint occurs in non-jury proceedings. The trial court unlawfully shackled Mr. Smith at his first appearance without any individualized assessment. The Court of Appeals recognized this error but excused it as harmless by misapplying Jackson in a way that ensures every improper restraint at arraignment would be harmless. This Court should accept review to clarify the presumption of prejudice resulting from unwarranted shackling and to hold the bias resulting from such restraint is not harmless where the government cannot demonstrate shackling would have been necessary.

¹ State v. Jackson, 195 Wn.2d 841, 467 P.3d 97 (2020).

- 3. The court again restrained Mr. Smith during jury trial without first conducting the necessary individualized assessment and considering lesser alternatives but instead deferring to the opinions of the correctional staff. The Court of Appeals affirmed the restraint by relying on the "broad discretion" afforded to trial courts to address security. This Court should accept review to address the continued misapplication of *Jackson*.
- 4. Accused persons have a constitutional right to self-representation, and courts must honor requests to represent oneself where the request is unequivocal, timely, and the person knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waives the right to counsel. Over a year before trial, Mr. Smith unequivocally informed the court he wanted to represent himself. The court engaged in a thorough colloquy and determined Mr. Smith's waiver of his right to counsel was voluntary. It nonetheless denied the request as not knowing or intelligent because Mr. Smith did not provide the court a good enough "reason" to

assert his right of self-representation, because it thought he would receive better representation from counsel, and because he faced multiple life sentences. The court's denial of Mr. Smith's right to self-representation for impermissible reasons conflicts with decisions of this Court and presents a significant question of constitutional law.

5. The right to counsel includes representation by an attorney who does not have an actual conflict with their client. Mr. Smith's attorney repeatedly took positions against him, including: filing multiple motions asking the court to determine whether Mr. Smith waived or forfeited his right to representation; asking the court to shackle Mr. Smith; and saying nothing when the court found Mr. Smith in contempt for filing an appeal. The court's refusal to grant Mr. Smith's requests for new counsel, despite its awareness of counsel's adversarial relationship with Mr. Smith, denied Mr. Smith his constitutional right to conflict-free counsel, contrary to decisions of this Court.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

When the government arraigned Mr. Smith, the court shackled him at his first appearance but did not conduct any inquiry or find an impelling need. 09/10/18RP 82-90; CP 85-93, 208-09. The court shackled Mr. Smith again later in the case: at a pretrial conference at his attorney's request, 08/16/19RP 10-19; CP 20-23; and with a 50,000 volt electric stun belt for one a half days of the jury trial. 11/12/20RP 852-75; 11/16/20RP 970-73; CP 219-21.

Over a year before trial commenced, Mr. Smith told the court he wanted to represent himself. 08/19/19RP 20-49.

When the court asked why, Mr. Smith answered, "I wish to exercise my Sixth Amendment right for self-representation." 08/19/19RP 26. The court continued looking for a reason and asked "why" four more times. 08/19/19RP 26. Mr. Smith responded, "I just expressed that to you. I would like to exercise my Sixth Amendment right to self-representation." 08/19/19RP 26. The court insisted on a reason, saying, "That

doesn't tell me why, though," and, "Can you help me understand why you would want to do that?" 08/19/19RP 26.

Mr. Smith explained, "I would like to proceed pro se because I feel as if though [sic] I'm going to get the best results for myself if I proceed pro se." 08/19/19RP 26-27.

When Mr. Smith told the court he had studied the rules of law, the court questioned him on his familiarity with the Rules of Evidence. 08/19/19RP 27. When Mr. Smith began discussing the Criminal Rules, the court corrected him and demanded, "just give me an example of a rule of evidence." 08/19/19RP 27-28. When Mr. Smith explained his book with the evidentiary rules was in his cell, the court started quizzing him on the Criminal Rules. 08/19/19RP 28-29.

Mr. Smith told the court he understood the rules of criminal procedure and evidence applied at the proceedings and understood he would have to follow them without help.

08/19/19RP 29-32. Even though Mr. Smith explained he had the books in his cell and had not expected to be tested on the

rules, the court concluded, "[Y]ou're not familiar with the rules of evidence. And ... I'm not confident that you really know the rules of criminal procedure either." 08/19/19RP 32.

When Mr. Smith again told the court he was familiar with the rules and understood he would be bound by them, the court redirected the colloquy. "I still didn't hear, really, a reason except you believe you'd be better at representing yourself than having a skilled, trained, experienced lawyer representing your side – representing you." 08/19/19RP 32-33. Mr. Smith again answered, "I would like to proceed pro se in order to get the justice I seek." 08/19/19RP 33. He explained he did not feel his attorney would allow him to assist in his defense and he felt he would be more successful if he proceeded pro se. 08/19/19RP 33.

The court then inquired of the prosecution what sentence Mr. Smith faced. 08/19/19RP 33-34. The prosecutor told the court Mr. Smith faced multiple LWOP sentences, warned the

trial would be "complex" and "lengthy," and encouraged the court to deny the motion. 08/19/19RP 34-37.

When the court resumed the colloquy, Mr. Smith acknowledged the procedural rules would bind him, the same as if he were a lawyer. 08/19/19RP 39. The court again focused on why Mr. Smith wanted to exercise his constitutional right:

I honestly still have not heard you give me a reason why you don't want an attorney except that you believe you're going to do a better job representing yourself, which I am not reaching that same conclusion based on what you've told me so far.

08/19/19RP 39.

Mr. Smith answered he was voluntarily waiving his right to counsel. When the court again asked him if he understood the charges and sentences he faced, Mr. Smith reiterated:

I'm very aware of those dangers and disadvantages of going pro se. I'm very aware. I understand that I'm facing life without the possibility of parole, and I understand that any of those convictions, if convicted of any of them, I will get life without the possibility of parole.

08/19/19RP 39-40.

Mr. Smith acknowledged he did not have the same training, experience, and knowledge as an attorney.

08/19/19RP 40. The court questioned Mr. Smith about how he would prepare for motions, and Mr. Smith explained his plan.

08/19/19RP 40-41.

The court admonished Mr. Smith that a trained lawyer would better defend him, highlighted his lack of familiarity with the rules, and again informed him of the severe consequences he faced. It cautioned Mr. Smith that his decision was unwise, advising him, "I'd strongly urge you to cooperate with [counsel] instead and have him continue to represent you." 08/19/19RP 44.

Mr. Smith persisted in his unequivocal request, saying, "Your Honor, I would ask that I proceed pro se. I knowingly, willingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waive [counsel] from anything else in regard to my representation, Your Honor." 08/19/19RP 44.

The court focused on the sentence Mr. Smith faced to deny his request. "[W]hile it may be voluntary, I don't believe that this is really intelligent – a decision that's intelligently made, facing the consequence that you're facing. It would be one thing if you were facing a possession charge, you know, and facing a short sentence." 08/19/19RP 44.

Mr. Smith again explained he was unhappy with his attorney and wanted to represent himself. 08/19/19RP 44-45. The court dismissed him and concluded:

I don't believe that Mr. Smith's request to represent himself is in fact knowingly and intelligently made. I think that he is not knowledgeable about the law, despite his ability to rattle off half a dozen court rules, because he doesn't really know the substance of them, and he doesn't really understand the process. And for those reasons, I'm denying his request to represent himself.

08/19/19RP 47. The court denied the request as "not either knowing or intelligently made." CP 24.

Mr. Smith sent the court two more letters requesting to represent himself. CP 210, 216-18. Over a year later, the court

again denied Mr. Smith's request to represent himself.

10/20/20RP 4-5. "I have yet to hear a legal basis that would require that he be allowed to proceed pro se in light of the fact that he's looking at life in prison without the possibility of parole." 10/21/20RP 4-5. The court highlighted counsel's abilities and concluded, "I haven't heard anything that would say that he would not make all appropriate arguments on behalf of Mr. Smith, so I will deny the request." 10/20/20RP 5.

The court denied Mr. Smith his right to represent himself and forced him to proceed with counsel. However, when Mr. Smith's attorney repeatedly took actions against Mr. Smith, the court refused his requests for new counsel.

Defense counsel joined the prosecution's request to shackle Mr. Smith at a pretrial hearing based on an alleged threat. 08/16/19RP 12-15. The court ordered Mr. Smith shackled without inquiring whether the alleged threats or counsel's request to restrain Mr. Smith created a conflict

between Mr. Smith and his attorney. 08/16/19RP 10-19; CP 20-23.

About two months later, defense counsel filed the first of three motions asking the court to determine whether Mr. Smith had waived or forfeited his right to counsel by his conduct. CP 27-38. Specifically, counsel stated Mr. Smith filed bar complaints against him, left voicemails threatening him, and made allegations against him that resulted in investigations. CP 28. Mr. Smith reported to jail staff that counsel was "pressuring him for sex," which triggered a mandatory investigation under the Prison Rape Elimination Act. CP 28; 11/12/19RP 53.

After putting the issue before the court, counsel claimed he did "not take a position on the issue of forfeiture and waiver of the right to appointed counsel in this case," but offered the brief as "an *amicus curiae* role on the specific issues of law before the court" as it assessed whether Mr. Smith waived or forfeited his right to counsel. CP 28-29. Counsel presented a

detailed analysis of how the court could find Mr. Smith relinquished his right to counsel through a voluntary waiver, waiver by conduct, or forfeiture. CP 29-37.

The court warned Mr. Smith that his behavior could lead to a finding he had waived or forfeited counsel. 11/12/19RP 55-56. Mr. Smith explained he and his attorney had a conflict and he wanted different representation. 11/12/19RP 56. The court refused to appoint new counsel. CP 39.

Six months later, defense counsel filed a second motion. CP 47-68. Counsel declared Mr. Smith made another complaint against him that led to another investigation. CP 48-49, 66-68; 04/30/20RP 6. Counsel reminded the court it "may take action" and told the court Mr. Smith was "playing games." 04/30/20RP 7, 9.

Mr. Smith again explained he had a conflict with his attorney and wanted new representation. 04/30/20RP 10-11. The court refused to appoint new counsel. 04/30/20RP 19-24. It also ordered Mr. Smith not to make any more complaints and

ordered defense counsel to have "a third person" present for any communications with Mr. Smith. 04/30/20RP 14-27; CP 69.

Mr. Smith thereafter appealed the order denying him new counsel.² CP 211-13. When defense counsel discovered Mr. Smith filed an appeal, he filed a third motion. CP 73-83. Counsel again asked the court to consider finding Mr. Smith waived or forfeited his right to counsel. CP 73-74; 09/11/20RP 74-75. Counsel never asked to withdraw.

Counsel also did not oppose the State's request to find Mr. Smith in contempt for filing the appeal. 09/11/20RP 71-81. Although the court previously told Mr. Smith it was not limiting his right to appeal, it found him in contempt. 09/11/20RP 79; CP 84. The court still did not appoint new counsel for Mr. Smith. He proceeded to trial with the same attorney.

² The Court of Appeals treated the appeal as a motion for discretionary review and ultimately dismissed it. CP 214-15.

The jury convicted Mr. Smith of nine strike offenses and two unlawful possession of firearm offenses. CP 150-75. The court relied on two prior convictions, one of which was a second-degree robbery conviction, to find Mr. Smith a persistent offender. CP 183. It imposed nine LWOP sentences and two 116 months sentences. CP 187.

E. ARGUMENT

1. The Court of Appeals' refusal to grant Mr. Smith the resentencing hearing that RCW 9.94A.647 demands further exacerbates racial disparity in sentencing and ignores the plain language of the statute.

The trial court sentenced Mr. Smith as a persistent offender and imposed sentences requiring him to die in prison based on its finding Mr. Smith had a prior conviction for second-degree robbery. CP 183, 187; 12/08/20RP 2387-90. However, legislation enacted after Mr. Smith's sentencing requires a new sentencing hearing "if a current or past conviction for robbery in the second degree was used as a basis for the finding that the offender was a persistent offender." RCW 9.94A.647(1).

The Court of Appeals agreed that RCW 9.94A.647 requires a resentencing hearing for anyone sentenced as a persistent offender based on second-degree robbery convictions. Slip op. at 30-31. It further agreed the trial court relied on a second-degree robbery conviction when it sentenced Mr. Smith as a persistent offender. Slip op. at 32. But it denied Mr. Smith the resentencing the statute demands by creating an exception to the resentencing provision not contained in the statute. Slip op. at 32-33. Instead, the court decided the trial court could impose the same sentence because Mr. Smith's second-degree robbery conviction contained a deadly weapon enhancement. Slip op. at 32-33. It affirmed Mr. Smith's sentences instead of remanding for the resentencing hearing RCW 9.94A.647 requires.

The opinion contradicts the plain language of the statute, disregards the intent of the legislature, and entrenches the very racial disparities in sentencing RCW 9.94A.647 sought to eradicate. This Court should grant review.

a. The Court of Appeals disregarded the plain language of the statute when it denied Mr. Smith the resentencing RCW 9.94A.647 requires.

A "persistent offender" is someone convicted of a most serious offense who also has two qualifying prior convictions for most serious offenses. RCW 9.94A.030(38)(a). Where a court finds the person has two or more prior convictions for most serious offenses, the presumptive sentencing guidelines do not apply, and a court instead sentences a person to LWOP. RCW 9.94A.570.

In 2019, the legislature redefined "most serious offense" to exclude second-degree robbery as a qualifying offense.

Laws of 2019, ch. 187, § 1; *compare* Former RCW

9.94A.030(33)(o)(2018), *with* RCW 9.94A.030(32). In 2021, the legislature enacted RCW 9.94A.647. Laws of 2021, ch.

141, §§ 1-2. This statute requires courts to resentence anyone who received a persistent offender sentence based on *any* second-degree robbery conviction, regardless of the date of conviction or sentence. RCW 9.94A.647. The statute provides:

In any criminal case wherein an offender has been sentenced as a persistent offender, *the offender must have a resentencing hearing* if a current or past conviction for robbery in the second degree was used as a basis for the finding that the offender was a persistent offender.

RCW 9.94A.647(1) (emphasis added).

Here, the court relied on Mr. Smith's 2014 second-degree robbery conviction to sentence him as a persistent offender. CP 183. Therefore, RCW 9.94A.647(1) requires a resentencing hearing at which the court may not rely on his second-degree robbery conviction.

The Court of Appeals nevertheless refused to give effect to the plain language of the statute, concluding instead the statute does not apply if the second-degree robbery prior conviction included a deadly weapon enhancement. Slip op. at 32-33. But where the plain language is "unambiguous" and has only one reasonable interpretation, the court's inquiry ends. *In re Pers. Restraint of Brooks*, 197 Wn.2d 94, 100, 480 P.3d 399 (2021). This Court

[d]etermine[s] legislative intent from the statute's plain language, considering the text of the provision in question, the context of the statute in which the provision is found, related provisions, amendments to the provision, and the statutory scheme as a whole.

State v. Conover, 183 Wn.2d. 706, 711, 355 P.3d 1093 (2015) (internal quotations omitted). Moreover, if the statute is ambiguous, the court must "interpret the statute in the defendant's favor." *Id.* at 712.

RCW 9.94A.647 does not contain an exception to the resentencing requirement if some other provision could have supported a persistent offender sentence. That the Court of Appeals believed the trial court could have imposed an LWOP sentence based on the deadly weapon enhancement accompanying the second-degree robbery conviction does not excuse the resentencing requirement. Slip op. at 32-33. The statute dictates that a person "must" have a resentencing hearing if the court relied on a second-degree robbery conviction in imposing a persistent offender sentence. RCW 9.94A.647.

This Court has already recognized the statute "*mandates* resentencing for those sentenced to life without parole as persistent offenders for those whose strike offenses include second degree robbery." *State v. Jenks*, 197 Wn.2d 708, 713 n.2, 487 P.3d 482 (2021) (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals has recognized the same.

A sentencing court is *required* to grant a motion for relief from the original sentence if it finds that a current or past conviction for robbery in the second degree was used as a basis for a finding that the offender was a persistent offender. RCW 9.94A.647(1), (2). Therefore, the statute provides that Caril "*must* have a resentencing hearing."

State v. Caril, ____ Wn. App. 2d ____, 515 P.3d 1036, 1045 (2022) (quoting RCW 9.94A.647(1)) (emphases added).

Here, the court relied on a 2014 second-degree robbery conviction to sentence Mr. Smith as a persistent offender. CP 183. Therefore, the statute dictates that Mr. Smith "must have a resentencing hearing." RCW 9.94A.647(1).

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