FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/21/2022 11:30 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 101396-5

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

#### RANDY SMITH,

Petitioner.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Jack Nevin No. 18-1-03583-1

#### **ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

PAMELA B. LOGINSKY Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 18096 / OID #91121 930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-2913

# **

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

Smith believes that the legislature intended to include such

language but omitted it inadvertently. Smith is wrong on a number of grounds.

First, it is not reasonable to believe that the legislature would intend to treat a weapons-enhanced violent offense against a person<sup>9</sup> as a non-strike, while weapons-enhanced non-violent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>RCW (RCW 9.94A.411(2)(a) ("2nd Robbery Degree 9A.56.210)" is RCW a crime against а person): 9.94A.030(58)(xi) (robbery in the second degree is a violent offense).

crimes such as delivery of a controlled substance<sup>10</sup> remain a strike offense. This would be an absurd result that runs contrary to the purposes of the Sentencing Reform Act and the Persistent Offender Accountability Act. *See* RCW 9.94A.010 (commensurate punishment to others committing similar offenses and punishment that is proportionate to the seriousness of the offense and the offender's criminal history); RCW 9.94A.555 (improve public safety).

This Court should presume that the legislature did not intend such an absurd result. *State v. Weatherwax*, 188 Wn.2d 139, 148, 392 P.3d 1054 (2017) ("In interpreting statutes, we presume the legislature did not intend absurd results and thus avoid them where possible."). As the court of appeals noted the legislature "intended to remove second degree robbery, a crime

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> State v. Valdobinos, 122 Wn.2d 270, 858 P.2d 199 (1993) (recognizing that a deadly weapon enhancement may be applied to the crime of unlawful delivery of a controlled substance); RCW 9.94A.825 (deadly weapon allegation not limited to violent crimes); RCW 9.94A.030(33) (any offense which is not a violent offense is a nonviolent offense).

that can involve relatively minor criminal intent, from the most serious offenses but leave all felonies with weapon enhancements as most serious offenses." Opinion at 32 (footnote omitted). Washington appellate courts have uniformly concluded that judicial amendment is unwarranted to render a rational statute irrational. *State v. Taylor*, 97 Wn.2d 724, 729, 649 P.2d 633 (1982) (collecting cases).

Second, even if the Court believed the omission was inadvertent, where the existing language is consistent with the legislature's purpose, a court will not read words into a statute to make it "more perfect, more comprehensive and more consistent." *Taylor*, 97 Wn.2d 724, 728-30. Here, the omission of Smith's proposed additional language does not undermine the purposes of the statute, it simply prevents them from being effectuated as comprehensively as Smith desires. This does not provide a basis for adding Smith's proposed language. *Id.* at 729-30. This claim does not merit consideration pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).

# B. Smith's Shackling Claims Were Disposed of Consistently With this Court's Decision in *Jackson*

The court of appeals rejected both of Smith's shackling claims consistent with this Court's precedent. Smith's preliminary hearing restraint claim was rejected on the grounds that the State established that the unpreserved error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Opinion at 26-27. Smith's complaint regarding the brief use of an invisible restraint during trial was rejected because its use was preceded with a thoughtful and thorough individualized determination of need. Opinion at 27-28. Further review of the restraint issue should be denied.

Smith appeared in restraints for a brief first appearance that predated the issuance of both *State v. Jackson*, 10 Wn. App. 2d 136, 447 P.3d 633 (2019), *rev'd in part by*, 195 Wn.2d 841, 467 P.3d 197 (2020) and *State v. Lundstrom*, 6 Wn. App. 2d 388, 429 P.3d 1116 (2018), which held that an individualized determination of need must be made before a defendant may be restrained during a pre-trial proceeding. 1RP 84-88. Smith did not object to the use of restraints before he entered the courtroom and he did not request their removal after he entered the courtroom. *Id.* Smith did ask, before he entered the courtroom, that the media not show his restraints, and this request was granted. 1RP 84.

Smith argues that review is warranted because the court of appeals' opinion conflicts with *Jackson's* presumption of prejudice. Petition for Review at 28-31. Smith, however, did not demonstrate that he was actually prejudiced by the use of restraints during the preliminary appearance as required to obtain review of the unpreserved error pursuant to RAP 2.5(a)(3). *See, e.g., State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926-27, 156 P.3d 125 (2007) (it is the "showing of actual prejudice that makes the error 'manifest,' allowing appellate review"). Nor does he identify in his petition for review how he was prejudiced by restraints during the preliminary hearing. *Jackson*, moreover, allows for the affirmance of a conviction when, as here, the State proved that the use of restraints at Smith's first appearance was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Jackson*, 195 Wn.2d at 856.

There is no conflict with *Jackson*. Smith is seeking a new rule in which an unpreserved claim of improper shackling can never be harmless. Such a rule runs afoul of the principle that a defendant is entitled to a fair trial, but not a perfect one. *See, e.g., State v. Barry*, 183 Wn.2d 297, 316, 352 P.3d 161 (2015) (error without prejudice is not grounds for reversal).

During trial, Smith affirmatively requested that the corrections officers and/or the court restrain him due to his anger towards his counsel. 11RP 853, 865, 870-71. The trial court after hearing from Smith, Smith's counsel, corrections officers, and the State selected a device called a "Band-It." This device was invisible to the naked eye once applied to Smith, did not interfere with Smith's range of movement, and was not subject to an objection from either Smith or his attorney. 11RP 857-863, 870, 852-876. This device was never activated while Smith wore it and was removed shortly after it was first applied. 11RP 870,

970-73, 2233-35. The Band-It, moreover, was not in use when Smith took the stand to testify. *Compare* 11RP 971-73 (Band-It removed on November 16, 2020) *with* 11RP 2095 (Smith called to the stand on December 1, 2020).

Before the Band-It was deployed, Judge Nevin made detailed and specific individualized findings of Smith's acrimonious relationship with his counsel, Smith's escalating anger toward his counsel, and Smith's stated fear that he would not be able to control himself around his defense counsel. Judge Nevin carefully balanced Smith's right to a fair trial with the need to protect people in the courtroom while Smith's anger was at its zenith. Judge Nevin personally selected the Band-It after hearing from the corrections staff about available options and Smith's attorney's request that visible restraints not be used. *See* 11RP 856-57, 864-868 and 870-73 (citing to *State v. Lundstrom*, 6 Wn. App. 2d 388, 429 P.3d 1116 (2018)).

Smith argues that further review is appropriate because the Band-It was utilized without justification and without consideration of lesser forms of restraint. Petition for Review at 31-34. The court of appeals properly rejected this argument because the trial court *did* make a lengthy individualized determination of need, considered applicable law, and selected the Band-It after rejecting the more visually obvious and constraining handcuffs and belly chains. Opinion at 27-28; 11RP 864-66, 870-73. Smith's request for further review must be denied because the court of appeals' holding is consistent with this Court's precedent.

Review, moreover, is inappropriate, because application of the Band-It did not prejudice Smith's right to a fair trial. Smith does not dispute that the erroneous use of restraints which are invisible to the jury does not merit a new trial. *See generally Jackson*, 195 Wn.2d at 857-58; *State v. Jennings*, 111 Wn. App. 54, 61, 44 P.3d 1 (2002). *See also People v. Jackson*, 319 P.3d 925, 940-942 (Cal. 2014) (stun belt); *State v. Bates*, 125 P.3d 42 (Ore. App. 2005) (stun belt). Smith never challenged Judge Nevin's factual findings that no one in the courtroom was able to see the Band-It when Smith was wearing it and its use did not impede Smith's range of motion. These findings, therefore, are verities on appeal. *State v. Hill*, 123 Wn.2d 641, 644, 870 P.2d 313 (1994). Because *Jackson* acknowledges that an erroneous use of restraints may be harmless, Smith has not established that review is proper under RAP 13.4(b).

## C. Smith's Misrepresentation of the Factual Record Regarding His Self-Representation Claim Does Not Establish Grounds for Review Under RAP 13.4(b)

Smith claims he made an unequivocal request for selfrepresentation that the trial court denied because it questioned Smith's motivation. The factual record proves otherwise. Smith does not explain which prong of RAP 13.4(b) his misrepresentations satisfy.

Criminal defendants have a state and federal constitutional right to self-representation. Art. I, § 22; *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 820, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1975). The unjustified denial of this right to proceed pro se requires reversal. *State v. Madsen*, 168 Wn.2d 496, 503, 229 P.3d 714 (2020). But not every request for self-representation must be granted. A trial court may deny the right when a defendant's request is equivocal, made without a general understanding of the consequences, or the defendant demonstrates a lack of mental capacity to conduct his defense. *In re Pers. Restraint of Rhome*, 172 Wn.2d 654, 665, 260 P.3d 874 (2011); *Madsen*, 168 Wn.2d at 504-05; *State v. Luvene*, 127 Wn.2d 690, 699, 903 P.2d 960 (1995).

Consistent with the above principles, the court of appeals held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying Smith's request for self-representation. The holding was based upon Smith's delusional written and oral statements<sup>11</sup> which demonstrated his lack of mental capacity to conduct a defense. Opinion at 14-16. Smith's conduct during and proximate to the *Faretta* hearings was comparable to those of the defendant in *State v. Burns*, 193 Wn.2d 190, 438 P.3d 1183 (2019). *Compare* CP 315 (prophecy, conspiracy, and danger) and 3RP 3-4, *with* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See generally CP 308, 309, 315, 318; 3RP 3-5.

*Burns*, 193 Wn.2d at 204-205 (corporation theory and lack of jurisdiction due to his "non-citizen" status).

Smith contends that further review is warranted because his August 19, 2019, unequivocal request to represent himself was actually denied because the trial judge thought this course of action was unwise. *See generally* Petition for Review at 35-45. Smith's arguments, however, start from a faulty premise and rest upon the trial court's oral comments rather than controlling written order. *See, e.g., State v. Molina,* 16 Wn. App. 2d 908, 922, 485 P.3d 963, 970, *review denied,* 198 Wn.2d 1008, 493 P.3d 731 (2021) (written order is controlling and a trial court's oral statements are no more than a verbal expression of its informal opinion at the time).

As proof that his request to proceed was unequivocal, Smith modifies a passage from the end of the August 19, 2019, colloquy:

"Your Honor, I would ask that I proceed pro se. I knowingly, willingly, intelligently, and voluntarily

waive *[counsel]* from anything else in regard to my representation, Your Honor."

Petition for Review at 10, quoting 08/19/19RP 44 [5RP 44]

(emphasis added). But this is not what Smith actually said.

At the conclusion of the lengthy *Faretta* hearing, Smith expressed a desire to waive the services of his current attorney—not the services of all attorneys:

Your Honor, I would ask that I proceed pro se. I knowingly, willingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waive *Mr. Mark Quigley* from anything else in regard to my representation, Your Honor.

5RP 44 (emphasis added). Smith, therefore, cannot establish grounds for further review under RAP 13.4(b).

Review, moreover, is inappropriate in this case as it is firmly established that the right to self-representation may be waived, abandoned, or forfeited through words or conduct. *McKaskle v. Wiggins*, 465 U.S. 168, 182-83, 104 S. Ct. 944, 79 L. Ed. 2d 122 (1984); *Brown v. Wainwright*, 665 F.2d 607, 611 (5th Cir. 1982). Relinquishment of the right to proceed pro se is a far easier matter than waiver of the right to counsel. *State v.*  Bebb, 108 Wn.2d 515, 525-26, 740 P.2d 829 (1987). Smith affirmatively waived his Faretta rights by requesting the assistance of counsel subsequent to the August 2019 Faretta hearing and prior to the start of trial. See CP 324 ("I'm requesting legal representation for my current cause no. 18-1-03583-1"), CP 325 ("Randy Smith is seeking representation"); 8RP 10 ("Well, I want representation"); 8RP 16 (answering "yes" to "you still want counsel"). Having done so, Smith is not entitled to relief on appeal. See, e.g., People v. Dunkle, 116 P.3d 494, 525-28 (Cal. 2005) (defendant who affirmatively stated he needed or wanted to be represented by lawyers after an improper denial of his Faretta request constituted an abandonment of his right to represent himself), disapproved of on other grounds by People v. Doolin, 198 P.3d 11 (Cal. 2009); Dorsey v. State, 357 N.E.2d 280, 283 (Ind. App. 1976) (subsequent repeated requests for representation renders moot the issue of whether the trial court erred in denying defendant the right to represent himself at trial). Smith's petition for review should be denied.

# D. The Court of Appeals Rejection of Smith's Challenge to the Denial of His Requests for Appointment of a Different Attorney Was Consistent with Existing Case Law

Smith seeks discretionary review of his claim that his attorney had a conflict of interest and should have been replaced. But Smith fails to identify a RAP 13.4(b) consideration and his arguments are based upon an alternative version of the facts that are not supported by the record. Further review is unwarranted because the opinion in this case does not conflict with any other appellate decisions.

An indigent defendant has a right to appointed counsel, but no right to select a specific attorney. *United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez*, 548 U.S. 140, 151, 126 S. Ct. 2557, 165 L. Ed. 2d 409 (2006). An indigent defendant has a right to counsel that is free from conflicts of interest. *State v. Dhaliwal*, 150 Wn.2d 559, 566, 79 P.3d 432 (2003).

An indigent defendant may obtain a substitution of counsel by establishing the existent of an actual conflict of interest. *Id.* at 573. An indigent defendant, however, may not through his misconduct create a conflict of interest. *See, generally State v. Fualaau*, 155 Wn. App. 347, 359-60, 228 P.3d 771, *review denied*, 169 Wn.2d 1023 (2010), *cert. denied*, 563 U.S. 905 (2011) (physical assault on defense counsel); *State v. Schaller*, 143 Wn. App. 258, 271, 177 P.3d 1139 (2007) (refusal to cooperate with counsel); *State v. Sinclair*, 46 Wn. App. 433, 437, 730 P.2d 742 (1986) (formal complaint to State Bar Association).

The court of appeals, applying the above principles, rejected Smith's request for a new trial on the grounds of actual conflict. Opinion at 16-20. While Smith seeks further review of the lower court's decision, he does not identify which of this Court's precedent the opinion conflicts with. *See Petition for Review* at 46-49. Instead, Smith offers an alternative version of the facts that is not supported by the record. *Id.* 

Smith's attorney never asked the trial court to determine whether Smith waived or forfeited his right to counsel by his misconduct. CP 28-29, 52-53; 6RP 54-55; 8RP 6-7; 9RP 75. Smith's attorney did ask the court to warn Smith that he could waive or forfeit his right to counsel by his conduct. *See* CP 27-38, 47-68, 73-83. Smith's attorney's conduct at all of the hearings regarding Smith's misconduct carefully balanced and preserved Smith's right to counsel and confidentiality, with his right to be free from abuse. *See generally State v. Nisbet*, 134 A.3d 840, 855 (Me. 2016) ("appointed counsel . . . should [not] be expected to tolerate threatening conduct from a client"). None of this Court's precedent requires defense counsel to suffer abuse such as that inflicted by Smith in silence. Smith's petition for review should be denied.

#### CONCLUSION

Smith's petition for review should be denied as none of the issues asserted satisfy any of the considerations found in RAP 13.4(b).

|||

///

This document contains 4,398 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.